Meeting Minutes
Utah Supreme Court’s Ad Hoc Committee on
Regulatory Reform
Licensed Paralegal Practitioner Workgroup
December 11, 2025
10:00am-11:00am

Remote

Attendance Online: Maryt Fredrickson, Nick Stiles, Bre Hickerson, Lindsey Brandt, Jon
Wayas, Andrea Donahue, Michael Barnhill, Tanya Rosado, Jackie Morrison, Andrea
Donahue, Lindsey Brandt

1.

Welcome and Review of Meeting Minutes (Tab 2 of agenda)

Meetings were reviewed and approved.

Review Judicial Survey Results

Nick asked about the group’s thoughts on the LPP judicial survey.

Courtney noted that it was nice to see that 2/3 of judges who responded had
encountered an LPP in their courtroom at some point. Courtney also noted that more
training would be helpful to clarify the scope of LPP practice. Nick agreed that it was
really encouraging to see that judges had encountered LPPs and that the judges were
so willing to get training about this. We discussed a potential bench book to help
provide judges with helpful info on these programs.

Courtney also highlighted some of the negative experiences that judges discussed and
that we can use that feedback to finalize our recommendations for the program, how
to improve training, etc.

Andrea highlighted the difference in responses between the LPP and CJA programs
and how we can use the LPP’s positive feedback when reforming the CJA program
(we’ll discuss w/CJA group).

Maryt brought up the comments about LPPs using forms now that the OCAP system
has gone away and asked the group whether LPPs should be limited to specific forms
or not.

Nick asked Lindsey whether she had encountered issues with judges and forms in her
practice. Lindsey noted that she had one issue with a “motion” form in a family law
case, and the judge refused to engage with objections or questions about whether that
form was acceptable. She hasn’t had negative experiences with judges so far but did
note that judges are happy to see an LLP and interact with them, especially when the
clients are particularly emotional or difficult to communicate with.

Nick noted one judge commented that it would be helpful to have “LPP” listed on
pleadings and asked Jon if that is something we could accomplish through a rule
change. Jon said that this is a good question and that LPPs don’t universally know



what to do with this. Emily told us that this rule change would be simple and practical
to require LPPs to note their involvement in the caption of the forms. The group
agreed that requiring this would help reduce friction and create more transparency
about what LPPs are involved, their certifications to define the scope of their practice.
Maryt noted that it could be helpful for judges to be aware of LPP and attorney
involvement in a case, because judges often prepare for court with the assumption of
who is involved, whether a litigant is self represented, etc. and the case caption is a
quick way to make clear who is involved and will appear at a hearing. Lindsey told us
that the LPP does sign the form, so the LPP’s info is somewhere. Emily agreed with
that but still advocated for inclusion of LPP in the caption box to make it even
clearer. Lindsey advocated for just including “LPP” after a person’s name instead of
adding a new caption box. Maryt agreed with Emily that it would be helpful to have
the LPP noted on the front. Nick agreed with Lindsey’s point on excluding an LPP’s
“practice areas” just to avoid having so much to add to each form.

Jon discussed the issues he is seeing with people using the forms and keeping them
updated and noted that this is probably an even better reason to move away from the
forms. Andrea also noted that depending on the other practice areas and roles that the
committee approves outside of the LPP program, those forms would need to be
updated again to include those groups.

Nick asked if Jon, as the LPP administrator at the bar, would support adding a caption
to note an LPP’s involvement. Jon noted that some LPPs are practicing because they
don’t have to be affiliated with a particular case, they are just assisting a self
represented client in a limited capacity. Jon was hesitant to agree to the caption and
argued that LPPs would need to understand what it means if they signed the form for
him to greenlight this rule change.

Maryt asked Jon if he is referring to “unbundled” legal services that LPPs participate
in and asked broadly about the unbundled services rules in Utah for attorneys.
Lindsey noted that Rule 86 is the rule that specifically addresses this issue and does
not require LPPs to sign on for that so long as they have a contract with the client.
Nick highlighted survey feedback about frustrations with not knowing an LPP was
involved or what they were allowed to do, so that’s why the caption would be
valuable to mitigate those frustrations. Lindsey asked if we could accomplish this by
just being clearer when appearing in court that you are an LPP.

Maryt noted that for attorneys, they only include their name on a pleading if they are
going to represent them in court, not if they assist in “unbundled” legal services like
helping a client write a document. It doesn’t make sense to treat LPPs differently.
Lindsey asked if we are treating LPP practice differently.

Jon noted that a lot of the LPP rules are just vague and unclear, and that makes it
difficult for judges and LPPs to be on the same page. Jon said that over the last 6
years, the piecemeal changes to the LPP rules have made it difficult to clearly
communicate what the rules are to everyone involved. Jon said that having CJAs is
likely to add to the confusion and the need to revise the rules. Nick said that his hope
is that the committee’s rule changes and form will lead to more comprehensive
changes to the programs.

Jackie said that the substantive feedback we received in the survey was incredibly
helpful and that it would be nice to keep collecting more data on this. Jackie said that



the most concerning comment to her was that the program was not serving A2J goals,
and that this was something we should really try to address.

Lindsey noted that the difficulty with LPPs is finding ways to get attorneys to want
LPPs and how that creates the need for financial incentives to motivate the use of
LPPs. That takes away from the A2J goals. Andrea noted that one ATJ challenge is
how we collect and provide pricing information for these different types of services.
Maryt reminded us again that the LPP program is really intended for the middle class
and not indigent people.

Lindsey disagreed with this observation and noted that in her experience, LPPs are
just filling the need for one-on-one client interactions that attorneys don’t want to do,
and that means attorneys are hiring LPPs at high hourly rates to meet that need.

Nick said that the reality of the LPP program is maybe not the intended reality. The
goal of the LPP program is to serve clients who can afford legal services but not
necessarily an attorney. The fact that we aren’t meeting that need in this intended way
is probably why we haven’t seen as much growth of the program as we expected.
Andrea circled back to the goals of legal regulatory reform and Jackie’s comment on
data, and noted that finding ways to measure what LPPs are doing would be very
helpful to evaluating these programs and refining them so that they are more
successful long-term.

Courtney asked if there is a pricing limit for LPP services in Utah. Nick said that
because of the US supreme court case preventing rate-setting, we probably can’t do
that.

Courtney said that Colorado is dealing with these exact issues, because firms are
hiring LPPs and potentially billing out their services at similar prices as first-year
associates. Courtney explained that Colorado is trying to gather data about LPP rates,
what LPPs are doing (more paralegal-type work, client-facing work, etc.). She said
that this is critical to figuring out how to grow the profession of LPPs and that CO is
working through this now as the state recognizes that firms hiring LPPs is not the best
way to address A2J goals. But this is such a challenging topic because firms are
necessary in many ways to grow the profession but then maybe aren’t the best option
long-term.

Jon said this data would be very helpful, because he thinks LPPs are still mostly
working as paralegals and not using their license/certification for LPP-specific work.
Lindsey reiterated that what her experience is as an LPP is that she truly is taking on
client management because attorneys do not want to do that. She also reiterated that
her role is not serving lower income individuals; it’s serving people who hired an
attorney in addition to her. Her volunteer work serves the A2J needs, but she does not
lean on her professional role to meet A2J goals.

Jon said that this is exactly why he wants to move away from forms practice because
LPPs can’t really do much and this practice is very limited. There is minimal wiggle
room for how LPPs can help in court or to be independent from attorneys/firms. He
noted his personal hesitation in hiring an LPP because it’s just not clear if they will be
able to get a case through the system. LPPs that are on their own are really struggling
to help clients because of the limitations of the forms-based practice.

Nick said that we don’t lose much by eliminating the forms-based practice if we
restrict LPP’s scope in other ways. For example, we could allow LPPs to represent



clients in front of a commissioner or focus exclusively on family law issues. He asked
if something like that would help clarify the LPP’s scope and mitigate those issues.
Jon said that he felt like approaches like that would really help LPPs know what the
limits of their practice are and would help clients understand what LPPs can help with
as well.

Maryt said that one pitfall of that approach is that not all districts in Utah are doing
things the same way, such as using commissioners in family law cases. So, we need
to think about how the LPP program can be inclusive enough to apply in rural places
and still be able to assist clients in those areas. Jon agreed and noted that one goal of
this program is to provide A2J in rural areas.

Courtney reminded us again that one challenge is how to motivate LPPs to do LPP-
work. In firms, LPPs would get paid less for LPP work than they are for paralegal
work, so Colorado is struggling to balance those competing incentives.

Andrea agreed and noted that this is similar in the medical world with nurse
practitioners versus registered nurses, because there is a substantial pay bump
between those roles that might not exist in the LPP/paralegal space. Courtney agreed
and noted that continuing to think about marketing could help address that. Jon
agreed and noted that sometimes paralegals in big firms are making more money than
attorneys in smaller firms, so this is a hard sell.

Nick asked us to highlight potential bullet points to address in our preliminary
recommendations: (1) improvement in messaging to the bar on LPPs, (2) judicial
training, and (3) potentially using bench cards.

Nick asked about LPPs in small claims cases based on some of the survey results, and
Jackie and Maryt agreed and wanted to explore how LPPs can help there. Jon agreed
that this has come up in the LPP steering committee and how this would be an easy
area to incorporate LPPs into the cases.

Looking ahead + action items

Nick noted that we will now start putting together a draft of our preliminary
recommendations and bullet points for a presentation to the supreme court in
February to get preliminary feedback from the court.

Andrea asked what the court would be agreeing to and for clarification about this
process. Nick explained that this is a preliminary step before we start drafting the
committee’s recommendations to understand how the court is leaning prior to our
preparation of the report. The court’s feedback will inform our report and
recommendations so that neither the court nor the committee are surprised about the
contents of the final report.



